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Plaintiff Downey Surgical Clinic, Inc. (“Downey”) brings this action on
behalf of itself and all others similarly situated, alleging as follows:
INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT

1. Downey files this class action on behalf of itself and all those similarly

situated nonparticipating or “out-of-network” Ambulatory Surgery Centers (“*ASC”)
in the United States of America (the “Class”) which have been systematically
underpaid by the Defendants for medically necessary services provided to
individuals who are either insured by the Defendants or are insured by companies
who have contracted with the Defendants to price and administer the health
insurance claims for such individuals (the “members™).

2. Downey is informed and believes that defendant Ingenix, Inc. owns a
database, known as the “Ingenix Database,” which health insurers throughout the
country, including defendants UnitedHealth Group, Inc. and United HealthCare
Services, Inc. (collectively “UnitedHealth™), use to determine the “usual and
customary” (“UCR”) reimbursement rate to pay ASCs that are not contracted
members of their network. This use of the Ingenix Database has resulted in ASCs
being underpaid by millions of dollars for many years.

3. Downey is informed and believes that the Ingenix Database is based on
erroneous and flawed information, which does not accurately or appropriately
reflect the usual and customary rates charged by ASCs in the different localities in
the United States, but rather systematically understates UCR rates for ASCs. A

report criticizing the use of the Ingenix Database released by the United States

| Senate Commerce Committee on June 24, 2009 explained the fundamental problems

with the Ingenix Database as follows:

Although the insurance industry represented the Ingenix
data as accurate and objective, subsequent investigations
have revealed that the reliability of the Ingenix data was
fatally undermined by faulty statistical methods and a
fundamental conflict of interest. While insurers presented
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Ingenix as an independent source of medical charge
information, Ingenix was actually a wholly-owned
subsidiary of UnitedHealth Group, one of the largest
health insurance companies in the country, and therefore
had a financial incentive to produce charge data that
shifted costs from insurers to their customers.
Furthermore, all of the data Ingenix used to calculate its
benchmark products came from the very same health
insurers that purchased Ingenix’s products, forming a
“closed loop” of information between Ingenix and the
insurance industry. . . . In testimony before the Senate
Commerce Committee in March 2009, UnitedHealth
Group’s CEO publicly expressed his regret that there was
a conflict of interest inherent in his company’s relationship
with Tngenix. . . . Insurers that contributed charge data to
Ingenix often “scrubbed” their data to remove high
charges. Ingenix then used its own statistical “scrubbing”
methods to remove valid high charges from therr
calculations. The results of these questionable statistical
methods were estimates of “usual and customary” charges
that consistently skewed reimbursement rates downwards
— in a direction that allowed insurers to reduce their claims
payments. . . . [[]nsurance companies were paying only 70
cents on each dollar they owed their customers under the
terms of their policies.’

4. As a result of the flaws in the Ingenix Database, its use by the
Defendants for determining UCR rates is invalid and unlawful.

3. ASCs all across the country, including Downey, have been harmed by

the Defendants’ failure to adequately pay for outpatient surgical services that were

! Senate Committee on Commerce, Science, and Transportation, “Underpayments
to Consumers by the Health Insurance Industry,” Staff Report for Chairman
Rockefeller, June 24, 2009, available at
http://commerce.senate.gov/public/_files/62409UnderpaymentstoConsumersbytheH
ealthInsurancelndustryReport.pdf.
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provided to the Defendants’ members. For example, UnitedHealth has paid a
significant number of Downey’s claims at less than ten percent of Downey’s
charges. UnitedHealth claimed that these payments were based on a determination
of UCR, when in fact they were improperly derived from flawed data comprising
the Ingenix Database.

6. As is common in the healthcare industry, the patients who are
Defendants’ members assigned their healthcare benefits to Downey and the Class.

7. The failure and refusal of Defendants to fairly and appropriately
compensate ASCs for their healthcare services constitutes a violation of Defendants’
duties to their members and beneficiaries under the Employee Retirement Income
Security Act (“ERISA”), and exposes those members and beneficiaries to liability
for their underpaid healthcare services.

8. Defendants also have violated the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt
Organizations Act (“RICO”) in that they have committed mail fraud and wire fraud
in connection with their scheme to underpay ASCs by, among other things, using
mail and interstate wire services to send false and misleading information
concerning the Defendants’ basis for determining UCR rates.

0. Defendants also have combined, conspired and/or agreed with their co-
conspirators to unreasonably restrain trade in violation of the Sherman Act by price
fixing with regard to the reasonable and customary rates of nonparticipating ASCs.

10.  Finally, for a subclass of California ASCs, Defendants have committed
unfair, unlawful and/or fraudulent business acts and practices in violation of
California Business and Professions Code § 17200 ef seq.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

11.  This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to

28 U.S.C. § 1331, because the action arises under the laws of the United States;
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c), because the action concerns violations of RICO;

pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 1332, because the action seeks to enforce rights under
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ERISA; pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1337, because the action seeks relief for violations
of the federal antitrust laws; and pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367, because the State law
claims are so related to the federal claims that they form part of the same case or
controversy.

12.  This Court is the proper venue for this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §
1391(b), and 18 U.S.C. § 1965, because a substantial part of the events or omissions
giving rise to the claims alleged herein occurred in this Judicial Distriet, and because
one or more of the Defendants conducts a substantial amount of business in this

Judicial District.
THE PARTIES

13.  Plaintiff Downey is, and at all relevant times mentioned herein was, a
California corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of
California, with its principal place of business in Downey, California. Downey s,
and at all relevant times mentioned herein was, an ambulatory surgery center
providing medical and surgical services in Downey, California. At all relevant
times mentioned herein, Downey was not contracted with any of the Defendants, or
participating in any of their provider networks.

14, Downey is informed and believes that Defendant UnitedHealth Group,
Inc. (“UnitedHealth”) is a Minnesota corporation with its corporate headquarters
located in Minneapolis, Minnesota. UnitedHealth is one of the largest health
carriers in the United States.

15.  Downey is informed and believes that Defendant United HealthCare
Services, Inc. (“United HealthCare”) is a Minnesota corporation with its corporate
headquarters located in Minneapolis, Minnesota. United HealthCare is wholly-
owned by UnitedHealth, and serves as UnitedHealth’s operating division. United
HealthCare is licensed to conduct insurance operations in California and, on

information and belief, every other State in the United States, whether it be under
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the name United HealthCare or some other operating name.

16, Downey is informed and believes that Defendant Ingenix, Inc.
(“Ingenix”) is a Delaware corporation with its corporate headquarters located in
Eden Prairie, Minnesota. Ingenix is a wholly-owned subsidiary of UnitedHealth.
Ingenix is registered to do business in California.

17.  UnitedHealth, United HealthCare, and Ingenix will be collectively
referred to herein as “United” or the “United Defendants.”

18.  The true names and capacities of the defendants sued herein as DOES
are unknown to Plaintiffs at this time, and Plaintiffs therefore sue such defendants
by such fictitious names. Plaintiffs are informed and believe that the DOES are
those individuals, corporations and/or businesses or other entities that are also in
some fashion legally responsible for the actions, events and circumstances
complained of herein, and may be financially responsible to Plaintiffs for the
services they have provided, as alleged herein. "The Complaint will be amended to
allege the DOES’ true names and capacities when they have been ascertained.

19.  The United Defendants and the DOES will be collectively referred to
herein as the “Detfendants.”

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

20. Some ASCs have written contracts with a health plans, under which

they agree to accept reimbursement that is discounted from the ASC’s total billed
charges, in exchange for the benefits of being a participating or “contracted
provider.” These benefits typically include an increased volume of business,
because the health plans provide financial incentives to their members to utilize the
services of contracted providers, such as reduced co-insurance payments and/or
deductibles.

21.  Conversely, some ASCs, such as Downey, do not have written
contracts with health plans. As a result, these ASC receive less volume of patients

from the plans, but they are not required to accept reduced amounts on their charges
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for the services rendered.

22.  The health plans represent to their members that they can obtain
healthcare services from non-contracted ASCs, and that the plans will pay the
nonparticipating ASCs based upon a percentage of the usual and customary charges
by ASCs for those non-contracted services.

23.  The plans and policies typically provide that UCR is determined based
on a review of the prevailing charges for healthcare service by the specific type of |
provider within the same or similar geographical area.

THE FLAWED INGENIX DATABASE

24.  UnitedHealth’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Ingenix, maintains the
Medical Data Research (“MDR”) and Prevailing Healthcare Charges System
(“PHCS”) databases, which comprise the Ingenix Database. The sources of
information for the Ingenix Database are asserted by Defendants to be trustworthy
material collected from the largest health insurers in the country and reliable
industry sources, including UnitedHealth and/or United HealthCare. The Ingenix
Database is used to generate schedules that are used by health insurers to determine
UCR reimbursement rates for nonparticipating or “out-of-network” providers,
including nonparticipating ASCs such as the Class members.

25, By acquiring MDR and PHCS, through its subsidiary Ingenix,
UnitedHealth owned and controlled the two principal and dominant producers of

UCR databases used by or on behalf of commercial health insurers and seif-insured

health benefit plans in the United States.

26. UnitedHealth has a conflict of interest in owning and operating the
Ingenix Database in connection with determining reimbursement rates, because
UnitedHealth has a financial incentive to understate the UCR rate so as to reduce the
amount reimbursed for out-of-network services provided to its plan members.

27.  Other health insurers also have a conflict of interest in using the
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Ingenix Database to determine reimbursement rates, as they have a financial
incentive to manipulate the data they provide to the Ingenix Database so that the
pooled data will skew reimbursement rates downward.

28. Ingenix purchased PHCS from the Health Insurance Association of
America (“HIAA”), an insurance trade association, which produced and marketed
the PHCS database to its member insurers. HIAA had informed purchasers of the
data that that the data was being provided for informational purposes only. The
HIAA disclaimed any endorsement, approval or recommendation that the data be
used to determine “usual and customary” charges. Similarly, Ingenix, once it
purchased the data, attempted to disclaim responsibility for the data, warning its
customers that the data was being provided “for informational purposes only.”

29.  Nonctheless, for the last decade, the Defendants contributed and/or
used the Ingenix data as the primary source for determining UCR rates, despite
knowing that the Ingenix Database was neither designed nor appropriate for
determining UCR reimbursement amounts.

30. On Downey’s information and belief, the errors in the Ingenix Database
can be summarized as including, but not necessarily limited tIO, the following flaws:

(a)  Using data which is not representative of charges within a

geographic area;

Using data which does not reflect the charges of providers with
any particular degree of expertise or specialization;

s~
-y
S’

(c)  Using data which is not based upon comparable services;

(d)  Using data which is not based on the details of the type of
facility;

(e) No determination of the numbers or types of providers in any
geographic area;

(f)  No determination of the actual types of procedures within a
geographic area;

g
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(k)

(m)

(n)

(0)

(p)
(@

()

Collection of charge data which is not representative of the
actual number of procedures performed within a geographic area;

Insufficient collection of provider-specific data to enable its

* users to determine whether the charges are from one provider,

from several providers, or from only a minority or specific subset
of the providers in a geographic area;

No collection of patient specific information such as age or
medical history or condition;

No determination of the most common charge for the same
service or comparable service or supply;

No determination of the place of service or type of facility;

Insufficient data collection for determining an appropriate
geographic medical market for comparing like charges;

Combining zip codes inappropriately and using zip codes
instead of appropriate geographic medical markets;-

Combining all provider charges by procedure code without
regard to factors such as use of resources and other costs to the
provider;

No comparison of procedures of the same or similar complexity
by, among other things, recording or accounting for applicable
procedure code modifiers;

No use of an appropriate statistical methodology;
No proper consideration of charging protocols and billing
practices generally accepted by the medical community or

specialty groups;

No proper consideration of medical costs in setting geographic
areas;

9
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT




HOOPER, LUNDY & BOOKMAN, INC.
1875 CENTURY PARK EAST, SUITE 1600

* FAX: (310)551-8181

LOS ANGELES, CALIFORNIA 20067-2817

TEL: (310 5351-8111

10655963

S B N I 7 I

e 90

10
11
1z
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
pAL
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

(s)  Lack of quality control, such as basic auditing, to ensure the
validity, completeness, representation, and authenticity of the
data submitted;

(t)  Subjection to pre-editing and “scrubbing” by data contributors
such as the health insurers who have a financial incentive to
skew the data downward; '

(u) Reporting of charges that are systemically skewed downward;

(v)  Using relative values and conversion factors to derive
inappropriate UCR amounts;

(w) Using a methodology that does not comply with the definition of
UCR that is contained in the plan documents;

(x)  Preventing access and scrutiny of the data by plan members,
their employers, or providers;

(y) Not applying appropriate inflation factors when using older
charge data.

31. Asaresult of these and other ﬂaws., the Defendants’ use of Ingenix
data for determining UCR rates is invalid and unlawful. The Defendants have
breached their obligations to reimburse ASCs for thieir services to the members by
failing to determine UCR amounts using valid data to support such determinations.
The Defendants’ past UCR determinations with respect to the Class should be
overturned insofar as the determinations were based on or derived from the Ingenix

Database.

THE HARM SUFFERED AS A RESULT OF THE DEFENDANTS’ USE OF
THE INGENIX DATABASE

32.  Plaintiff Downey is an ambulatory surgery center located in Downey,

California. At all relevant times, Downey was a non-participating provider in the

Defendants’ provider networks. Throughout the Class Period, Downey provided
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out-of-network healthcare services to patients who are members of health plans or
policies that Defendants’ insured, funded, sponsored and/or administered. The harm
being inflicted on Downey by the Defendants’ unlawful business practices is typical
of that being suffered by members of the Class.

33. Plan members treated by Downey rely on their health plans to
reimburse Downey for its services, leaving Downey to advance the cost of its’
services. To ensure direct payment from the Defendants, Downey obtains an
assignment of benefits from the members in advance of the surgery. This
assignment expressly authorizes the Defendants to pay by check made payable
directly to Downey “for the medical and surgical benefits allowable, and otherwise
payable to me under my current insurance policy, as payment toward the total
charges for the services rendered.” This assignment of benefits is typical of that
obtained by members of the Class and is an industry standard practice by healthcare
providers.

34,  Prior to providing the services, Downey, as is typical of all ASCs, calls
the patient’s health plan to verify that the patient is an eligible member, to determine
if the health plans needs to authorize the service before it is performed, and to
determine the patient’s out-of-network benefits. The health plans typically inform
the ASC that the out-of-network benefits are a particular percentage of bilied
charges or UCR.

35, Atall relevant times, Downey submitted the appropriate claim forms
for payment to the Defendants. The claim forms include information such as the
type of procedure, the coding for the procedure, the fact that Downey is an assignee
of the member’s benefits, and other information by which the claim can be
processed and paid. These bills are submitted on industry standard forms created by
the federal Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS”), commonly
known as UB forms.

36. The Defendants did not pay Downey at the represented percentage of

1]
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charges, and instead improperly calculated UCR rates based on the flawed Ingenix
Database. The plans then misapplied these rates to Downey’s claims.

37. The Explanation of Benefits and Remittance Advices that Downey
received from the Defendants also often misrepresented that the “reasonable charge
is based on amounts charged by other providers for similar services or supplieé,”
and that “payment of benefits has been made in accordance with the terms of the
managed care system.” In fact, Downey is informed and believes that the payments
were based on the flawed Ingenix Database, which does not conform With these
statements.

38. Some subsequent appeal denials to Downey even admitted that UCR
was derived from a database maintained by Ingenix. However, neither the
Explanation of Benefits, the Remittance Advices, nor any other correspondence

adequately explained how Ingenix data was actually used to calculate UCR, or that

‘it was based on flawed data.

39.  The flaws with the Ingenix Database also are reflected by the few times
that Defendants accurately paid Downey for the same services at the represented
percentage of billed charges. |

40. United HealthCare has in many cases paid Downey vastly different
percentages of charges for parallel procedures performed under similar
circumstances that were billed at comparable charges, with no explanation by
United HealthCare for the huge discrepancy. For example: |

a. For patient 17, Downey charged $6,978.12 for an

esophagogastroduodenoscopy (“EGD”), also known as an upper endoscopy,

? Patient names have been changed to numbers to preserve patient confidentiality.
The United Defendants already have the patient names based on their roles in the
amounts paid. Downey also will provide the names once an appropriate protective
order is in place to maintain the patient confidentiality.
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performed in 2008, Downey was informed that the patient’s plan covered 60% of
itedHealth in this instance accurately paid §4,186.87 (60%).

b. For patient 2, Downey charged $7,694.51 for an EGD performed
in 2006. Downey was informed that the patient’s plan covered 60% of charges. But
UnitedHealth only paid $1,168.20(15%).

c. For patient 3, Downey charged $12,664.95 for an EGD (with

covered 50% of charges. But UnitedHealth only paid $382.90 (3%).

d. For patient 4, Downey charged $12,235.95 for an EGD (with
possible biopsy) performed in 2008. Downey was informed that the patient’s plan
covered 80% of charges. But UnitedHealth only paid $1,557.60 (12.7%).

d. For patient 5, Downey charged $12,699.95 for an EGD (with
possible biopsy) performed in 2009. Downey was informed that the patient’s plan
covered 80% of charges. But UnitedHealth only paid $1,339.83 (10.5%).

41. Downey is informed and believes that the low and inconsistent
payments for patients 2-5 were based on the flawed Ingenix Database.
| 42. At all relevant times, the Defendants used [ngenix data to understate
the true market rates of services rendered by Downey. The Ingenix Database was a
“closed loop,” whose details Defendants deliberately kept off limits to their own
members and the ASCs who provided healtheare services. This has caused harm to
both Downey and its patients. Downey’s patients are harmed because the
Defendants refuse to reimburse Downey’s services at the appropriate amount, which
leads to Downey having to bill the patients for amounts that the patients believe
would be covered by their health insurance. Downey suffers harm by often being
unable to collect these balances from the patients, thereby having to take a loss for
its services. This is typical of what members of the Class experienced.

43,  As aresult of the Defendants’ wrongful business practices, Downey is

often denied a reasonable opportunity to appeal improper payment determinations,
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despite the significant time and resources that Downey exhausts in trying to appeal
the underpayments. Downey’s appeals rarely result in'any additional payment,
because the appeals of nonparticipating ASCs like Downey are rendered futile due
to the unlawful black-box Ingenix-based reimbursement scheme employed by the
Defendants. Like Downey, the members of the Class were similarly harmed by
being forced to exhaust significant time and resources futilely appealing the
Defendants’ underpayments.

44. The Defendants’ use of the flawed Ingenix data has also harmed the
relationships that Downey and members of the Class had with patients and the
surgeons who perform the outpatient surgeries, because improperly determining
UCR create the perception that nonparticipating ASCs are too expensive in
comparison to in-network ASCs or other in-network surgery facilities. Downey is
informed and believes that in-network ASCs have comparable charges to out-of-
network ASCs.

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

45.  Downey brings this action on behalf of itself and all others
similarly situated under Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The
requirements of subparts 23(a) and (b)(1), (b)(2) and (b)(3) of the Federal Rules of

Civil Procedure are satisfied in this case.

46. Downey brings this class action on behalf of the Class, defined as:

All non-participating ambulatory surgery centers, within
the boundaries of the United States of America, which
provided services to any insured, member or enrollee of
any Defendant insured or administered health plan or
policy, at any time during the period such services were
reimbursed on the basis of the Ingenix Database, through
the date of certification, and were paid less than the
covered amount of their billed charge for such “out-of-
network” services based on the Ingenix Database.
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47. Downey also brings this action on its own behalf and on behalf of an
ERISA Subclass defined as:

All non-participating ambulatory surgery centers, within
the boundaries of the United States of America, which
provided services to any participant or beneficiary of an
Defendant insured or administered group benefits plan
governed by ERISA, at any time during the period such
services were reimbursed on the basis of the Ingenix
Database, through the date of certification, and were paid
less than the covered amount of their billed charge for
such “out-of-network” services based on the Ingenix
- Database.

48. Downey also brings this action on its own behalf and on behalf of a

California Subclass, defined as:

All non-participating ambulatory surgery centers, within
the boundaries of the State of California, which provided
services to any insured, member or enrollee of any
Defendant insured or administered health plan or policy, at
any time during the period such services were reimbursed
on the basis of the Ingenix Database, through the date of
certification, and were paid less than the covered amount
of their billed charge for such “out-of-network” services
based on the Ingenix Database.

Rule 23(a)
Numerosity
49,  This putétive class includes hundreds, perhaps thousands, of non-I
participating arﬁbuiatory surgery centers throughout the United States and is
therefore so large as to make joinder of all members impracticable within the
meaning of Rule 23(a)(1) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.
Commonality

50. Pursuant to Rule 23(a)(2) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, there

are questions of law or fact common to all class members, including, but not limited
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to, the following:

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

()

(&)

(h)

)

@

Whether the Defendants have reimbursed the Class for out-of-
network services in amounts that were fixed, artificially
maintained, and/or determined based on the inherently flawed
Ingenix data;

Whether the Defendants violated ERISA, RICO or the Sherman
Act by using the Ingenix Database for paying claims by
nonparticipating ASCs;

Whether the Defendants violated ERISA, RICO or the Sherman
Act by using the Ingenix Database to reduce benefits payable
to nonparticipating ASCs;

Whether the Defendants’ use of the Ingenix Database resulted in

lower UCR determinations than would occur had the Defendants

used appropriate data;

Whether the Defendants violated RICO or ERISA by failing to
disclose certain information to the Class, including how
defendants determined the specific rates for services provided

by the Class based on the Ingenix Database;

Whether the systems set up by the Defendants made it futile for
Members of the ERISA Subclass to appeal under ERISA;;

Whether the Defendants conspired and/or aided and abetted each
other in furtherance of the unlawful acts alleged herein;

Whether the Defendants violated the Sherman Act by combining,
conspiring and/or agreeing to a price fixing conspiracy that
sought, and was able, to artificially lower, fix or maintain the
price paid to the Class by the Defendants as UCR rates;

Whether interest should be added to the payment of unpaid
benefits;

Whether Defendants’ conduct in California violates California
Business and Professions Code § 17200 ef seq.

16
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Typicality

51. The claims of Downey are typical of the claims of the defined Class,
within the meaning of Ruleh23(a)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, and are
based on and arise out of the same uniform and standard illegal practices of the
Defendants, as alleged herein by Downey. The proposed Class representative states
claims for which relief can be granted that are typical of the claims of absent Class
members. If litigated individually, the claims of each Class member would require
proof of the same material and substantive facts, rely upon the same remedial
theories, and seek the same relief.

Adequacy

52. Downey is committed to pursuing this action and is prepared to serve
the proposed Class in a representative capécity with all of the obligations and duties
material thereto. Downey will fairly and adequately represent the interests of the
members of the Class within the meaning of Rule 23(a)(4) of the Federal Rules of
Civil Procedure, and will not have any interests adverse to, or that directly and
irrevocably conflict with, the interests of the other Class members.

53. Downey has retained competent counsel experienced in class action
litigation, which will adequately prosecute this action, and will assert, protect and
otherwise well represent the named Class representative and absent Ciaés members.

Rule 23(h) |

54,  The prosecution of separate actions by individual Class members would
create a risk of adjudication with respect to individual Class members that would, as
a practical matter, be dispositive of the interests of other members of the Class who
are not parties to this action, or could substantially impair or impede their ability to
protect their interests. Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(1)(B).

55.  The prosecution of separate actions by individual members of the Class
would create a risk of inconsistent or varying adjudications with respect to

individual members of the Class which would establish incompatible rights within
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the Class. Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(1 }{A).

56. The Defendants’ actions are generally applicable to the Class asa
whole, and Downey seeks equitable remedies with respect to the Class as a whole,
within the meaning of Rule 23(b}(2) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

57.  The common questions of law and fact enumerated above predominate
over individual questions, and a class action is a superior method for the fair and
efficient adjudication of this controversy, within the meaning of Rule 23(b)(3) of the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. Common or general proof will be used for each
member of the Class to establish each element of their claims based on RICO and
the federal antitrust laws. Common or general proof will be used for each member
of the ERISA Subclass to establish each element of their claims based on ERISA.
Common or general proof will be used for each member of the California Subclass
to establish each element of their claims based violations of California Business and
Professions Code § 17200 et seq. Additionally, proceeding as a class action is
superior to other available methods of adjudication. The likelihood that individual
members of the Class will prosecute separate actions is remote due to the time and
expense necessary to conduct such litigation, which exceeds what any one Class
member has at stake.

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Violations Of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c)
Based On Predicate Acts Of Maii And Wire Fraud

{On Behalf Of Downey And The Class)

58.  The allegations of the prior paragraphs of the Complaint are hereby
repeated as if fully set forth herein.
The Enterprise

59,  The Defendants carried out their scheme to defraud Downey and the
Class through the conduct of an association-in-fact enterprise within the meaning of

18 U.S.C. § 1961(4), comprised of the United Defendants, the DOE defendants,
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other health insurance companies, self-funded employee benefits plans, third party
developers of claims processing systems/components, and health insurance trade
associations, among others (the “'Enterprise”).

60. The Enterprise has and continues to have an ascertainable structure and
function separate and apart from the pattern of racketeering activity in which the
Defendants have engaged. The members of the Enterprise function as a structured
and continuous unit, and performed roles consistent with this structure, including
legitimate business activities. However, the Defendants used the Enterprise to carry
out the fraudulent and unlawful activities alleged herein, including, but not limited
to, collecting flawed data from other members of the Enterprise for the Ingenix
Database and using the flawed Ingenix Database to calculate UCR in a manner that
facilitated underpaying nonparticipating ASCs for services they rendered to plan
members. _

61. The Enterprise provided the Defendants with a system or vehicle by
which they could obtain flawed data for the Ingenix Database, use the database to
manipulate and reduce payments to ASCs for out-of-network services, and make
false representations to the ASCs concerning the reimbursement rates for the
services they provided. Defendant Ingenix benefited specifically by enhancing its
ability to earn licensing fees through its databases, and indirectly through the
underpayments of its parent, UnitedHealth. United Healthcare, the DOE
Defendants, other health insurance companies, and self-funded employee benefit
plans benefited specifically by reducing the amount it paid to the Class for their
services, and similarly benefited by reducing payments for self-funded plans that
were administered by United Healthcare. UnitedHealth benefited through the
activities of its subsidiaries.

62. The Defendants used the Ingenix Database in a manner directly at odds
with its intended use for informational purposes only. United knew that customers

of the Ingenix data were using it to improperly determine UCR, and did nothing to
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stop it. Indeed, defendant Ingenix promoted the Ingenix Database as a cost-saving
mechanism, provided extensive support to its customers for this purpose, including
vouching for the flawed data being used to price claims, and “scrubbing” the charge
data it received in a manner that it knew should have precluded iis use for
determining UCR. These actions were taken in furtherance of Ingenix’s effort to
understate UCR amounts for the benefit of its parent UnitedHealth, and for the
benefit of the Enterprise as a whole.

63. The Defendants’ submission of inadequate, incomplete, flawed and/or
“scrubbed” data to the Ingenix Database benefited Ingenix and the other United
Defendants, as well as the DOE Defendants, other users of the Ingenix Database, |
and the Enterprise as a whole. The Defendants knew that the data they submitted
would be used to create false databases for pricing UCR for out-of-network services
received by their members, as well as members of other health plans.

64.  The Defendants are “persons” within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. §
1961(3) who conducted, participated in, operated, managed and/or controlled the
affairs of the Enterprise through a pattern of racketeering activity, in violation of 18
U.S.C. § 1962(c).

65. The Defendants participated in the conduct of the Enterprise for the
purpose of shifting the costs of medical treatment from the Defendants and others in

TEE
H
i

the health insurance industry to the plan members and providers. The Enterprise’s
orchestrated use of the invalid Ingenix Database, which was trumpeted as the largest
available, allowed the Defendants to reduce payments based on miscalculated UCR,
discourage the use of out-of-network providers, and create the appearance of
legitimacy for the reductions to out-of-network benefits. Despite their mutual
knowledge that the Ingenix data did not correctly determine UCR, the Defendants
and other members of the Enterprise defended the Ingenix data, and relied on

defendant Ingenix to provide support in defense of UCR determinations, including

in administrative and legal challenges brought by patients and providers. In tum,
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the Enterprise as a whole benefited from the systematic reduction of UCR costs, at
the expense of patients and providers. The Enterprise would not have realized its
goals absent the Defendants’ participation in the Enterprise.
| Predicate Acts of Mail and Wire Fraud
66.  Section 1961(1) of RICO provides that “racketeering activity” includes
any act indictable under 18 U.S.C. § 1341 (relating to mail fraud) and 18 U.S.C. §

1343 (relating to wire fraud). 18 U.S.C. § 1961{(1XB). As set forth below, the

Defendants have and continue to engage in conduct violating each of these laws to
effectuate their scheme to underpay nonparticipating ASCs.

67. In addition, in order to make their scheme effective, each of the
Defendants sought to and did aid and abet the other Defendants in violating the
above laws within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. § 2. As a result, their conduct is
indictable under 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343 on this additional basis.

68.  For the purpose of executing and/or attempting to execute the above
described fraudulent scheme to underpay nonparticipating ASCs for services
rendered to plan members, by means of false pretenses, representations or promises
in connection with determining UCR, the Defendants, in violation of 18 U.8.C. §
1341, placed in post offices and/or in authorized repositories matter and things to be
sent or delivered by the Postal Service, caused matter and things to be delivered by

commercial interstate carrier, and received matter and things from the Pestal Service

‘or commercial interstate carriers, including, but not limited to, Explanations of

Benefits, Remittance Advices, authorizations, correspondence, payments, repotts,

data, statements, and plan materials,

69.  For the purpose of executing and/or attempting to execute the above
described fraudulent scheme to underpay nonparticipating ASCs for services
rendered to plan members, by means of false pretenses, representations or promises
in connection with determining UCR, the Defendants, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §

1343, transmitted and received by interstate wire, matter and things which include,
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but are not limited to, Explanations of Beneﬁts, Remittance Advices, oral or
electronic representations of out-of-network benefits, preauthorizations and other
service approvals, correspondence, payment summaries, reports, data, statements,
faxes, and plan materials.

70.  The fraudulent matter and things sent by Defendants via the Postal
Service, commercial carrier, wire or other interstate electronic media include, but
are not limited to:

e)  material containing false and misleading representations that
Defendants would pay the Class members for the covered,
medically necessary out-of-network services they provided to the
plan members;

b)  material containing false and misleading information concerning
the Defendants’ basis for determining UCR rates, even though
the Defendants knew that they had determined UCR by using the
flawed Ingenix Database

¢)  material which concealed or failed to disclose that Defendants
would and did use the invalid techniques and methodology
described above to deprive the Class of payment, including the
use of a database that was based on inadequate data and lacked
required data fields essential for evaluating UCR;

material containing false and misleading data that the Defendants
submitted to Ingenix for use in the Ingenix Database;

[
N’

¢)  material constituting explanations for payments made or denied
by Defendants, but which, in fact, fail to reveal and/or actively
conceal the true reasons that payments had been denied,
diminished, delayed, or otherwise adjusted from the request for
payment as submitted by the Class members.

71.  Other matter and things sent through or received from the Postal
Service, commercial carrier or interstate wire transmission by Defendants included
information or communications in furtherance of or necessary to effectuate the
scheme.

72.  Each such use of the mails and each interstate wire communication in
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furtherance of the Defendants’ fraudulent scheme violated the federal mail fraud and
federal wire fraud statutes, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343.

73.  The Defendants’ false statements, acts of concealment and failures to
disclose were knowing and intentional, had the design and effect of preventing a
meaningful evaluation and review of the Defendants’ UCR determinations, and
were otherwise made for the purpose of deceiving ASCs as part of an ongoing
scheme by the Enterprise to underpay nonparticipating ASCs and other out-of-
network providers.

74.  As fiduciaries and administrators of various health plans, the
Defendants occupied and continue to occupy a position of trust, by which they must
accurately represent the terms and conditions of the plans, and to disclose all
material facts concerning the determination of plan benefits. Nonetheless, the
Defendants either knew or recklessly disregarded the fact that the false statements
and omissions described above were material, and that the ASCs would and did rely
on such false statements and omissions.

Pattern of Racketeering Activity

75.  The Defendants have engaged in a “pattern of racketeering activity,” as
defined by 18 U.S.C. § 1961(5), by committing or aid.ingn and abetting in the
commission of at least two acts of racketeering activity, i.e., indictable violations of
18 U.S.C. §§ 664, 1341 and 1343, as described above, during the Class Period. In
fact, each of the Defendants has committed or aided and abetted in the commission
of thousands of acts of racketeering activity. Each act of racketeering activity was
related, had a similar purpose, involved the same or similar participants and method
of commission, had similar results and impacted similar victims, inciuding the
ERISA Subclass members.

76.  The multiple acts of racketeering activity which Defendants committed

and/or conspired to or aided and abetted in the commission of, were related to each
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other and amount to and pose a threat of continued racketeering activity, and

therefore constitute a “pattern of racketeering activity” as defined in 18 UL.S5.C. §
1961(5).

77.  There are too many examples of Defendants’ predicate acts to detail
individually in this complaint without being cumulative. However, the following
are illustrative examples of predicate acts committed by Defendants in furtherance
of their fraudulent scheme.

a.” Patient 6 came to Downey for a laparoscopy, hysteroscopy, and
other surgical procedures. On September 9, 2005, Downey called Defendant United
HealthCare to verify Patient 6’s eligibility and benefits. Downey spoke with a
representative named “Kim,” who provided the verification that out-of-network
benefits would be paid at “60%” of UCR, and confirmed that there was no flat fee
rate or allowed amount for the out-of-network outpatient surgery services.
Thereafter, in reasonable reliance on this representation that Downey would be
reimbursed at 60% of UCR, Downey provided its services to Patient 6. The total
charges for Downey’s services were $17,346.51. Yet, in the Explanation of Benefits
that United Healthcare sent to Downey on February 21, 2006, more than three
months after Downey submitted the claim, United Healthcare stated that the
“Amount Allowed” was only $1,123.08, and paid only $193.85 — or approximately
1.1% of the total charges — for the services provided to Patient 6. The Explanation
of Benefits stated merely that the plan covers reasonable charges, which, according
to the Explanation, was based on “amounts charged by other providers for similar
services or supplies,” and that “payment of benefits has been made in accordance
with the terms of the managed care system.” The claim was appealed, and on May
8, 2006, United Healthcare resﬁonded in a letter to Patient 6 that the claim
supposedly was paid correctly. The letter expressly stated that “reasonable and
customary charge” had been determined using the Ingenix Database, and

specifically misrepresented that the Ingenix Database “takes into account all
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pertinent factors,” even though United Healthcare knew that Ingenix was flawed,
was not designed to price claims, and did not take into account “all pertinent
factors.” Downey is informed and believes that other similarly situated providers in
the same geographic area do not charge commensurate with the amount derived
from the Ingenix Database. |

b. Patient 7 came to Downey for an EGD and other procedures. On
June 7, 2007, Downey called Defendant United HealthCare to verify Patient 7’s
eligibility and benefits. Downey spoke with a representative named “Nathan,” who
provided the verification that out-of-network benefits would be paid at “60%” of
UCR, and confirmed that there was no flat fee rate or allowed amount for the out-of-
network outpatient surgery services. Thereafter, in reasonable reliance on this
representation that Downey would be reimbursed at 60% of UCR, Downey provided
its services to Patient 7. The total charges for Downey’s services came to
$12,752.00. Yet, in the Explanation of Benefits that United Healthcare sent to
Downey on July 31, 2007, United Healthcare stated that the “Amount Allowed” was
only $1,947.00, and paid only $568.20 — or approximately 4.4% of the total charges
— for the services provided to Patient 7. The Explanation of Benefits stated merely
that the plan covers reasonable charges, which, according to the Explanation, was
based on “amounts charged by other providers for similar services or supplies,” and
that “payment of benefits has been made in accordance with the terms of the
managed care system.” On November 16, 2007, in Downey’s efforts to challenge
the underpayment, a representative or agent of United Healthcare told Downey by

telephone that Downey needed to speak with Ingenix regarding the status of the

‘appeal. This demonstrates that Ingenix was not only being used to price the claim at

the outset, but also to handle the “appeals.” Downey’s calls to Ingenix went
unanswered, and none of the Defendants or their agents explained to Downey the
true nature of Ingenix or its database. United Healthcare deprived Downey of the

knowledge whereby it could reasénab}y challenge the flawed methodology that
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Ingenix used for determining UCR. On November 27, 2007, Downey received a
letter from United Healthcare simply stating that the claim had been processed
correctly and that “no further payment is due,” without providing any substantive
reasons as to why. The letter omitted any reference to Ingenix, even though the -
flawed Ingenix Database served as the improper basis for determining not to pay
Downey at the correct UCR rates. Downey is informed and believes that other
similarly situated providers in the same geographic area do not charge
commensurate with the amount derived from the Ingenix Database.

C. For patient 8, Downey charged $12,487 for a colonoscopy with
possible biopsy performed in April 2008. Downey was informed that the patient’s
plan paid at 70% of UCR. But UnitedHealth only paid $1,187.90 (9.5%). The
Explanation of Benefits stated merely that the plan covers reasonable charges,
which, according to the Explanation, was based on “amounts charged by other
providers for similar services or supplies,” and that “payment of benefits has been
made in accordance with the terms of the managed care system.” The EOBs
intentionally omitted any explanation of the source or methodology for the data that
had been used to determine UCR. Downey is informed and believes that other
similarly situated providers in the same geographic area do not charge
commensurate with the amount derived from the ingenix Database.

d. For patient 9, Downey charged $17,286.60 for a lumbar epidural,
a lumbar spine facet joint injection, and an S1 joint injection performed in January
2009, and charged $33,419.95 for an osteotomy for a hammertoe correction
performed in February 2009. Downey was informed that the patient’s plan paid at
60% of UCR. UnitedHealth paid $741.60 (4%) for the January 2009 procedure, and
paid $2,727 (8%) for the February 2009 procedure. The Explanations of Benefits
for these services stated merely that the plan covers reasonable charges, which,
according to the Explanations, was based on “amounts charged by other providers

for similar services or supplies,” and that “payment of benefits has been made in
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accordance with the terms of the managed care system.” The EOBs intentionally
omitted any explanation of the source or methodology for the data that had been
used to determine UCR. Downey is informed and believes that other similarly
situated providers in the same geographic area do not charge commensurate with the
amount derived from the Ingenix Database.

Injury

78.  Each of the Class members has been injured in its business and
property as a proximate result of the Defendants’ violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c),
in that the Class members have been underpaid substantial sums for the services
rendered to plan members in justifiable reliance on the fraudulent communications
they received from the Defendants concerning reimbursement at UCR rates.

79. By reason of this violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c), the Defendants are
jointly and severally liable for three times the damages the Class members have
sustained, plus costs in this suit, inclu-ding, reasonable attorneys’ fees.

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Violations Of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c)
Based On Predicate Act Of Converting ERISA Plan Funds
(On Behalf Of Downey And The ERISA Subclass)

80. The allegations of the prior paragraphs of the Complaint are hereby
repeated as if fully set forth herein.

81.  Any health benefits plan that is insured, sponsored, funded and/or
administered by any of the Defendants, and which is an “employee welfare benefit
plan” within the meaning of 29 U.S,C. § 1002(1)(A), and is otherwise subject to any
provision of Title I of ERISA, is included in this claim for relief.

82.  Section 1961(1) of RICO provides that “racketeering activity” includes
any act indictable under 18 U.S.C. § 664 (relating to embezzlement from pension

and welfare funds). 18 U.S.C. § 1961(1)(B). Section 664 of Title 18 provides:
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Any person who embezzles, steals, or unlawfully and
willfully abstracts or converts to his own use or to the use
of another, any of the moneys, funds, securities,
premiums, credits, property, or other assets of any
employee welfare benefit plan or employee pension
benefit plan, or of any fund connected therewith, shall be
fined under this title, or imprisoned not more than five
years, or both.

As set forth below, the Defendants have and continue to engage in conduct
violating this law to effectuate their scheme to underpay nonparticipating ASCs.

83. In addition, in order to make their scheme effective, each of the
Defendants sought to and did aid and abet the other Defendants in violating the
above law within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. § 2. As a result, their conduct is
indictable under 18 U.S.C. § 664 on this additional basis.

84. Downey and the ERISA Subclass have provided services to patients
who are participants and beneficiaries of “employee welfare benefit plans” within
the meaning of Section 664 (the “ERISA plans”). The Defendants insure, sponsor,
fund, and/or administer the ERISA plans. Upon information and belief, the
applicabie plan documents provide that all benefits due under the plan terms will be
paid, and that the underlying benefits they expressly guarantee are plan assets.

85. The Defendants intentionally caused nonparticipating ASCs to be
underpaid guaranteed out-of-network benefits to which they were otherwise entitled
in accordance with the terms of the ERISA plans. The Defendants did this by
unlawfully and improperly using the Ingenix Database to reduce payments on
claims submitted by nonparticipating ASCs.

86. The Defendants abstracted and/or converted ERISA plan funds,
because these funds should have been held by the Defendants in their fiduciary
capacity under ERISA for payment to the plan members and/or their as:31gnees As

named fiduciaries and administrators of the various ERISA plans, the Defendants

occup1ed and continue to occupy a position of trust, whereby they are obhgated to
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accurately determine entitlement to benefits and plan funds. Nonetheless, Downey
is informed and believes that the Defendants improperly withheld benefits and
maintained such funds as part of their own assets for their own benefit. With respect
to self-funded ERISA plans, Downey is informed and believes that the Defendants
who act as claims administrators improperly relied on the Ingenix Database to make
final appeal decisions, and thereby intentionally caused underpayment of benefits to
the ERISA Subclass to justify, and to increase, their administrative fees.

87.  The Defendants acted with the specific intent to deprive the ERISA
Subclass of guaranteed benefits, and were sufficiently aware of the facts concerning
the improper UCR determinations to know that they were acting unlawfully and
contrary to the trust placed in them by Downey, the ERISA Subclass, the ERISA
plan participants and beneficiaries, and in some cases the plans themselves.

88.  Each such act of abstraction and/or conversion of ERISA plan funds in
furtherance of Defendants’ fraudulent scheme constituted a separate and distinct
predicate act in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 664. |

89.  The above-described acts of conversion of ERISA plan funds are
related to the earlier-described acts of mail and wire fraud, in that each act involves
common participants, common methodologies, common results impacting upon
common victims and a common purpose of executing the false payment scheme
orchestrated by the Enterprise.

90. Collectively, the violations of 18 U.S.C.. § 664, carried out over an
extended period of time, constitute a “pattern of racketeering activity” within the
meaning of 18 U.S.C. § 1961(5).

91.  The Defendants are “persons” within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. §
1961(3) who conducted, participated in, operated, managed and/or controlled the
affairs of the Entérprise through a pattern of racketeering activity, in violation of 138
U.S.C. § 1962(c).

92,  The ERISA Subclass members have been injured in their business and
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property as a proximate result of this violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c), in that they
have been deprived of hundreds of millions of dollars in guaranteed ERISA plan
benefits on theu‘ claims for reimbursement of out-of-network charges, as well as the
knowledge necessary to challenge false and manipulative UCR determinations
through the administrative appeal process.

93. By reason of this violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c), the Defendants are
jointly and severally liable for three times the damages Downey and the ERISA
Subclass have sustained, plus costs in this suit, including reasonable attorneys’ fees.

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Violations of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d)
(On Behalf Of Downey And The Class)

94.  The allegations of the prior paragraphs of the Complaint are hereby
repeated as if fully set forth herein.

95,  During the Class Period, the Defendants engaged in a conspiracy 1o
which all of them agreed and in which all of them participated, directly or indirectly,
in the conduct of the affairs of the Enterprise. The commonalities between each
Defendants’ methodology of underpaying nonparticipating ASCs, through the use of
the invalid Ingenix Database and other improper reimbursement schemes,
establishes the existence of the conspiracy to violate 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c).

96. Each of the Defendants was aware of the existence of the overall
scheme and of the participation of others in it, and that the benefits of each were
dependent on the success of the broader fraudulent \}enture to systematically
underpay nonparticipating ASCs by use of flawed data and methodologies for
calculating UCR. In furtheranée of this conspiracy, each of the Defendants
committed the acts alleged above in facilitation of the case-wide conspiracy.

97.  Downey and the Class members have been injured in their business
and property as a proximate result of this violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d), in that

they have been underpaid substantial sums for the services rendered to plan
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members.

98. By reason of this violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d), all of the
Defendants are jointly and severally liable as co-conspirators for all of the damages
sustained by Downey and the Class, trebied, plus costs in this suit, including
reasonable attorneys’ fees.

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Violations Of Section One Of The Sherman Act
(On Behalf Of Downey And The Class)

99.  The allegations of the prior paragraphs of the Complaint are hereby
repeated as if fully set forth herein.

100. The Defendants have committed, and conspired to commit, with other
healthcare insurers and/or with other third parties, numerous violations of the
Sherman Antitrust Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1 et seq. The Defendants have combined,
conspired and/or agreed with its co-cbnspirators to unreasonably restrain trade in per
se violation of Section One of the Sherman Act by price fixing with regard to the
reasonable and customary rates of nonparticipating ASCs.

Interstate Commerce

101. The Defendants’ activities, including the administration and operation
of health insurance policies, managed care plans and ERISA plans, as well as
United’s licensing of Ingenix data to other insurers, in every state in the United
States, are in the regular, continuous and substantial flow of interstate commerce,
and have a substantial effect upon interstate commerce.

102. The Defendants’ unlawful activities, concerted actions, conspiracy to
restrain trade, and agreement to fix prices substantially affect and restrain the

operation of interstate commerce.

The Anti-Competitive Conduct

103. The Defendants reached an agreement with each other and other non-
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defendant competitors to determine UCR rates using primarily the Ingenix
Database, as described above, even while knowing that use of the database would
result in artificially low reimbursements to members of the Class. This concerted
action has resulted in unlawful and anticompetitive price fixing agreements, and
other horizontal restraints of trade and anticompetitive behavior. This unreasonable
restraint on trade is a per se violation of Section One of the Sherman Act.

104. UnitedHealth, via the Ingenix Database, facilitates the direct horizontal
agreements through the compiling and sharing of competitive information and UCR
rate data among all the co-conspirators.

105. Contributors of data to Ingenix are entitled to discounted use of the
Ingenix Database simply for continuing to submit data at the level at which they
submitted data when the database was owned by HIAA.

106, UnitedHealth’s ownership of the Ingenix Database and sharing of the
database’s compiled pricing data with each of its competitors constitutes the
adoption of a benchmark for determining the price to be paid for the services of
nonparticipating ASCs.

107. The Defendants engaged in price fixing when they agreed with each
other and other co-conspirators to utilize the same flawed database to determine
UCR rates for the services of nonparticipating ASCs, which leads to them paying
substantially the same reduced amounts for services rendered to their members.

108. The Defendants, along with thei.r co-conspirators, adopted a standard
formula for making UCR determinations, based on a database that is designed and
intended to reduce reported charges értiﬁciaﬂy, and each has agreed to a method of
determining the maximum price or fee, through a database schedule, that they will
pay for out-of-network charges, therefore amounting to an agreement to fix prices.

109. The Defendants’ agreement also gives them, collectively with their
competitors, tremendous power to set UCR rates well below those which would

exist in a competitive marketplace. In fact, no competitive pressure to raise UCR
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rates exists while all the conspirators act collectively to reduce prices. Without
agreement and collective action between them, including the exchange and
compilation of the pricing and charge data for the Ingenix Database, the Defendants
would be unable to systematically and across the board reduce UCR rates.

110. In addition, the Defendants and their co-conspirator “‘competitors” in
the health insurance industry have substantially similar contracts with their
customers in which all material provisions are the same; they all submit UCR rate
data to the databases to be compiled; they are all aware that the data submitted leads
to skewing the relevant UCR determinations downward; and they all utilize the
Ingenix Database to determine UCR rates. These parallel behaviors allow their
price fixing agreement to effectively depress the UCR rates paid to nonparticipating
ASCs for services rendered to plan members, and otherwise reduce competition
among would-be competitors.

111. The standardized Ingenix Database product, which is widely available,

combined with the Defendants and their co-conspirators involvement and

‘participation in the same trade associations, facilitates collusion, conspiracy and

agreémem;. Furthermore, the contribution of data to Ingenix makes defection from
the conspiracy easy to detect.

112, UCR rate determination is a cost of doing business with the
Defendants. Thus, agreement to systematically reduce these costs benefits each
conspirator without affecting their ability to compete for customers, which is a
benefit that cannot be achieved without collective agreement. In fact, the
Defendants and their co-conspirators enjoy monopoly status or significant market
power in certain areas or markets. The agreement to utilize the same flawed
database for UCR determinations allows the Defendants to enjoy the market power
of its counterparts through the use of competitors’ data.

113. The agreement and/or conspiracy to fix prices was made at the expense

of nonparticipating ASCs (among others, including their patients) resulting in lower
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UCR rates of payment to nonparticipating ASCs. The price fixing agreement also
had the effect of forcing many ASCs, including some members of the Class, to
relent and become contracted with the Defendants and their co-conspirators, where
further methods of control and inadequate payments could be imposed on the ASCs.
114. The price fixing scheme alleged herein makes it impossible for the

Class members to avoid interaction with the conspiracy, because of the

maintain in the health insurance market. The price fixing scheme permits the
Defendants and their co-conspirators to maintain their oligopoly by reducing their
costs and decreasing reimbursement levels for the services of nonparticipating
ASCs. |

Antitrust Injury

115. As aresult of the illegal agreements and/or conspiracies, the
Defendants have caused Downey and the Class to suffer financial loss and damages,
including the loss of relationships with patients and surgeons, because the
Defendants reimburse nonparticipating ASCs for their services in amounts that are
unconscionably low and anticompetitive.

116. The Defendants’ market power results from the combined power of its
competitors, who also reached agreement to utilize the same flawed database to
determine UCR rates and whose role as primary payors gives them the power to
impose artificially low UCR rates and other anti-competitive restrictions on
providers that could not exist in a competitive market.

117. Competition among the payors has been reduced by the agreement to
improperly reduce UCR payments.

118. Without the agreement to fix UCR rates and reduce competition among
payors, the Class would have received, and would have continued to receive, greater

reimbursement for the services that they rendered to the plan members.
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119. The Class members have standing to pursue these claims as assignees
of their patients’ out-of-network benefits, as third party beneficiaries of their
patients’ out-of-network benefits, and as claimants for reimbursement of the
reasonable and customary value of their services. The underpayment of UCR
amounts to nonparticipating ASCs is so integral a part of the Defendants’ antitrust
violation that the loss suffered by the Class members is the type of injury that fhe
violation would be likely to cause.

| 120. The Class will continue to suffer financial loss and injury, including
antitrust injury, as a consequence of the Defendants’ illegal agreements and/or
conspiracies.

121. As aresult of the Defendants’ violation of Section One of the Sherman
Act, Downey and the Class are entitled to recover threefold their actual damages as
will be determined at trial, plus costs, expenses and attorneys fees. See 15 US.C. §
15(a).

122. Downey and the Class are further entitled to injunctive relief in the
form of an Order prohibiting the Defendants from engaging in the anti-competitive,
discriminatory and otherwise wrongful conduct described herein, and requiring the
Defendants to reimburse the Class for the outstanding balances on all claims which
Defendants improperly priced using the Ingenix Database. See 15 U.5.C. § 26.

FIFTH CLATV FOR RELIEF

Enforcement Under 29 U.S.C. § 1132(a)(1)(B)
For Failure To Pay ERISA Plan Benefits
(On Behalf Of Downey And The ERISA Subclass)

123. The allegations of the prior paragraphs of the Complaint are hereby
repeated as if fully set forth herein.

124. This claim is alleged by Downey, for itself and the ERISA Subclass,
for relief in connection with claims for treatment rendered 0 patients covered by a

health benefits plan governed by ERISA. This is a claim to recover benefits,
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enforce rights and clarify rights to benefits under 29 U.S.C. § 1132(a)(1)(B). The
ERISA Subclass members have standing to pursue these claims as assignees of their
patient’s benefits under health benefit plans governed by ERISA (the “ERISA
plans™).

125. During the Class Period, the ERISA Subclass was entitled to
reimbursement under the ERISA plans that the Defendants insure,. sponsor, fund
and/or administer. The Defendants breached their plan provisions for benefits by
underpaying the ERISA Subclass the out-of-network benefits covered by the ERISA
plans. The Defendants’ breaches included, among other things, the misuse of the
Ingenix Database to both calculate UCR and reduce other benefits paid to
nonparticipating ASCs for their services.

126. In certain self insured ERISA plans, sometimes designated as
Administrative Services Only or “ASO,” certain insurer defendants, such as
UnitedHealth, have the responsibility to decide benefit appeals and/or have been
given authority, responsibility and/or discretion with regard to benefits decisions
(hereafter, “benefits discretion”). Upon information and belief, the insurer
defendants, such as UnitedHealth, misused the Ingenix Database and engaged in
other improper methods to both calculate UCR and reduce other benefits paid Ey
their ASO clients to nonparticipating ASCs for their services.

127, Where the Defendants act as a fiduclary or exercise benefits discretion,
or determine final benefit appeals, the Defendants are liable for underpaid benefits
to the ERISA Subclass in both fully insured-and ASO ERISA plans.

128. The ERISA Subclass members have exhausted all administrative
remedies available to them, and/or further administrative efforts would be futile and
meaningless. The Defendants have routinely failed to process claims submitted by
the ERISA Subclass in a manner consistent with ERISA regulations. Among other
things, the Defendants have refused to provide sufficient explanation concerning

their benefits determinations, including information concerning the flawed Ingenix

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT




HOOPER, LUNDY & BOOKMAN, 1NC.
1875 CENTURY PARK EAST, SUITE 1600

* FAX: (310) 551-8181

LGOS ANGELES, CALIFORNIA 90067-2517

TEL: (310) 551-8111

1G65599.3

[y

i~

o8 2 N Ul s W

i0
i1
12

13

14
15
16
i7
18

20
21
22

24
25

26

27

28

Database; the Defendants have employed policies designed to unduly inhibit and
hamper the appeal of claims submitted by nonparticipating ASCs, including through
their systematic reliance on flawed data; and the Defendants have refused the efforts
of nonparticipating ASCs to become sufficiently acquainted with the terms of the
ERISA plan, as well as the Defendants’ true method of determining UCR, thereby
rendering the administrative appeal a futile and meaningless endeavor.

129. The following examples are illustrative:

a. Downey is informed and believes that Patient 6 is a member of
an ERISA plan. Patient 6 came to Downey for a laparoscopy, hysteroscopy, and
other surgical procedures. On September 9, 2005, Downey called Defendant United
HealthCare to verify Patient 6’s eligibility and benefits. Downey spoke with a
representative named “Kim,” who provided the verification that out-of-network
benefits would be paid at “60%” of UCR, and confirmed that there was no flat fee
rate or allowed amount for the out-of-network outpatient surgery services,
Thereafter, in reasonable reliance on this representation that Downey would be
reimbursed at 60% of UCR, Downey provided its services to Patient 6. The total
charges for Downey’s services were $17,346.51. Yet, in the Explanation of Benefits
that United Healthcare sent to Downey on February 21, 2006, more than three
months after Downey submitted the claim, United Healthcare stated that the
“Amount Allowed” was only $1,123.08, and paid only $193.85 — or approximately
1.1% of the total charges — for the services provided to Patient 6. The Explanation
of Benefits stated merely that the plan covers reasonable charges, which, according
to the Explanation, was based on “amounts charged by other providers for similar
services or supplies,” and that “payment of benefits has béen made in accordance
with the terms of the managed care systerri.” The claim was appealed, and on May
8, 2006, United Healthcare responded in a letter to Patient 6 that the claim
supposedly was paid correctly. The letter expressly stated that “reasonable and

customary charge” had been determined using the Ingenix Database, and
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specifically misrepresented that the Ingenix Database “takes into account all
pertinent factors,” even though United Healthcare knew that Ingenix was flawed,
was not designed to price claims, and did not take into account “all pertinent
factors.”

b. Downey is informed and believes that Patient 7 is a member of
an ERISA plan. Patient 7 came to Downey for an EGD and other procedures. On
June 7, 2007, Downey called Defendant United HealthCare to verify Patient 7°s
eligibility and benefits. Downey spoke with a representative named “Nathan,” who
provided the verification that out-of-network benefits would be paid at “60%” of
UCR, and confirmed that there was no flat fee rate or allowed amount for the out-of-
network outpatient surgery services. Thereafter, in reasonable reliance on this
representation that Downey would be reimbursed at 60% of UCR, Downey provided
its services to Patient 7. The total charges for DoWney’s services came to
$12,752.00. Yet, in the Explanation of Benefits that United Healthcare sent to
Downey on July 31, 2007, United Healthcare stated that the “Amount Allowed” was
only $1,947.00, and paid only $568.20 — or approximately 4.4% of the total charges
— for the services provided to Patient 7. The Explanation of Benefits stated merely
that the plan covers reasonable charges, which, according to the Explanation, was
based on “amounts charged by other providers for similar services or supplies,” and
that “payment of benefits has been made in accordance with the terms of the
managed care system.” On November 16, 2007, in Downey’s efforts to challenge
the underpayment, a representative or agent of United Healthcare told Downey by
telephone that Downey needed to speak with Ingenix regarding the status of the
appeal. This demonstrates that Ingenix was not only being used to price the claim at
the outset, but also to handle the “appeals.” Downey’s calls to Ingenix went
unanswered, and none of the Defendants or their agents explained to Downey the
true nature of Ingenix or its database. United Healthcare deprived Downey of the

knowledge whereby it could reasonably challenge the flawed methodology that
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